
1

Agenda
Contact Officer: Paul Bateman, Democratic Services Officer

Tel: 01235 422520

E-mail: paul.bateman@southandvale.gov.uk

Date: 15 February 2021
Website: www.southoxon.gov.uk

A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee
WILL BE HELD ON TUESDAY 23 FEBRUARY 2021 AT 6.00 PM

A VIRTUAL MEETING

You can watch this meeting via this weblink: 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTj2pCic8vzucpzIaSWE3UQ

Members of the Committee:
Ian Snowdon (Chairman)
Peter Dragonetti (Vice-
Chair)
Ken Arlett
David Bretherton
Elizabeth Gillespie

Kate Gregory
Lorraine Hillier
George Levy
Jo Robb

Ian White
Celia Wilson

Substitutes
Sam Casey-Rerhaye
Stefan Gawrysiak
Sarah Gray
Victoria Haval
Kellie Hinton

Alexandrine Kantor
Mocky Khan
Axel Macdonald
Jane Murphy
Caroline Newton

Sue Roberts
Alan Thompson
David Turner

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These include 
large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any other special 
requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the officer named on 
this agenda.  Please give as much notice as possible before the meeting.

MARGARET REED

Head of Legal and Democratic 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTj2pCic8vzucpzIaSWE3UQ


2

1 Chair's announcements  

To receive any announcements from the chair and general housekeeping matters.

2 Apologies for absence  

To record apologies for absence and the attendance of substitute members.

3 Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 5 - 16)

To adopt and sign as a correct record the Planning Committee minutes of the meeting 
held on 13 January 2021.  

4 Declarations of interest  

To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on 
the agenda for this meeting.   

5 Urgent business  

To receive notification of any matters which the chairman determines should be 
considered as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the 
matters urgent and to receive any notification of any applications deferred or 
withdrawn.

6 Proposals for site visits  

7 Public participation  

To receive any statements from members of the public that have registered to speak 
on planning applications which are being presented to this committee meeting.  

Development control applications

Planning applications - background papers and additional 
information

All the background papers with the exception of those papers marked 
exempt/confidential (eg those held in enforcement files) used in the reports in this 
agenda are held in the application file (working file) referenced by the application 
number. 

Any additional information received following the publication of this agenda will be 
reported and summarised at the meeting.

Summary index of applications



3

Site Address Proposal Application No Page

8 Kerak, 
Chalkhouse 
Green Road, 
Kidmore End  

Retrospective change of use of land 
and buildings from C3 (dwelling 
houses) to Sui Generis (mix of 
residential and childcare) (additional 
information concerning Offsted and 
access details received 24th May 
2019 and access, parking and waste 
collection details updated as shown 
on amended and additional 
documents received 4th February 
2020 and revised application form 
and site area and additional 
transport statement and travel plan 
received 6th August 2020).

P18/S4100/FUL 17 - 28

9 44 Cedar 
Crescent, 
Thame  

Variation of condition 2 (approved 
Plans) of application P19/S0998/HH 
(Single storey rear and side 
extension and alterations) -To allow 
for alterations to the approved 
scheme to facilitate provision of first 
floor accommodation within roof void 
(as amended by plan and additional 
information received 12 October 
2020 providing floor level information 
and plans received 26 November 
2020 reducing depth of side roof 
extension).

P20/S2729/HH 29 - 44

10 Coopers Farm, 
Britwell Salome  

Development of a pond. P20/S4830/FUL 45 - 52



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Minutes
OF A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee

HELD ON WEDNESDAY 13 JANUARY 2021 AT 6.00 PM

A VIRTUAL MEETING

Present:

Ian Snowdon (Chairman)

Peter Dragonetti (Vice Chair), Ken Arlett, David Bretherton, Sarah Gray, Kate Gregory, 
Lorraine Hillier, George Levy, Jo Robb, Ian White and Celia Wilson
Apologies:

None. 

Officers:

Paul Bateman, Emma Bowerman, Sharon Crawford, Steve Culliford, Trevor Dean, Paula 
Fox, Caitlin Phillpotts, Cathie Scotting and Bertie Smith

Also present: 

Councillor Lynn Lloyd and Councillor Anna Badcock

90 Chair's announcements 

The chair welcomed everyone to the meeting, outlined the procedure to be followed and 
advised on emergency evacuation arrangements.

91 Minutes of the previous meetings 

RESOLVED: to approve the minutes of the meeting held on Wednesday 2 
December 2020 at 2.00pm as a correct record and agree that the 
Chairman sign these as such, subject to the minute 77 at the paragraph 
commencing ‘the committee expressed concerns…’ omitting the finishing 
words, ‘lack of parking amenity’, to be substituted by the words, ‘lack of off 
street parking spaces’. 

92 Declarations of interest 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



2

Councillor David Bretherton declared an interest in item 8, application P20/S2355/FUL, 
Land adjacent to Kiln Avenue, Chinnor. He was a member of The Chinnor and Princes 
Risborough Railway but did not hold any position of pecuniary advantage.

93 Urgent business 

There was no urgent business.

94 Proposals for site visits 

There were no proposals for site visits.

95 Public participation 

The list showing members of the public who had registered to speak had been sent to the 
committee prior to the meeting. Statements received from the public were circulated to the 
committee prior to the meeting.

96 P20/S2355/FUL - Land adjacent to Kiln Avenue, Chinnor 

Councillor David Bretherton declared an interest in this application. He was a member of 
The Chinnor and Princes Risborough Railway (CPRR) but did not hold any position of 
pecuniary advantage.

Owing to telecommunication difficulties, Councillor Jo Robb, who was present at the 
commencement of the discussion of this application, did not hear full debate following a 
motion to give planning permission and therefore did not vote on a subsequent motion to 
refuse the application.

The committee considered application P20/S2355/FUL for the erection of a fence along 
the boundary of Kiln Avenue (as per minor amendment to the block plan submitted 9 
September 2020, correcting proposed height of fence to correlate with the elevations and 
acoustic report provided) on land adjacent to Kiln Avenue, Chinnor.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting.

The planning officer reported that a site visit had been held in respect of this application by 
members of the committee on Monday 14 December 2020. The South Oxfordshire Local 
Plan 2035 had been adopted since the submission of this application and henceforth 
carried full weight.  A requirement of the original planning permission for the development 
of the cement works, to mitigate the noise from the railway, and to minimise any conflict 
between the operations of the existing railway and the new residents, was to install an 
acoustic barrier. The approved acoustic barrier had not been provided. This application 
aimed to resolve this planning breach by seeking planning permission for the 
establishment of an acoustic fence comparable to that previously approved.

The planning officer also reported that the council’s environmental protection officer had 
reviewed the application documents, including an acoustic report, and was satisfied that 
the proposed fence met the requirements required for the acoustic fencing and 
recommended that it be installed in accordance with the plans and supporting documents 
which had been submitted.

Page 6



3

Councillor Gordon Archer, a representative of Chinnor Parish Council, spoke objecting to 
the application.

Mr. Andrew Walker, a representative a representative of Chinnor and Princes Risborough 
Railway, spoke objecting to the application. He provided the committee with a ‘sound 
propagation level indicator’, which was a computerised simulation of likely noise levels for 
different heights of fencing, coupled with distances to residential properties(‘source’ to 
‘receiver’).

Ms. Donna Palmer the agent, spoke in support of the application.

Councillor Lynn Lloyd, a local ward councillor, spoke objecting to the application.

In response to a question regarding the number of complaints of noise nuisance from 
residents of Kiln Avenue, the environmental health officer reported that this number was 
small, but that upon investigation a statutory noise nuisance was not being created by the 
activities of the CPRR.  The planning officer advised the committee that contrary to a 
popular view, noise measurements in respect of nuisance complaints were not taken from 
the outside of a property’s front door but from inside a house and at its rear.

The planning officer confirmed that originally, the intention was for the acoustic fence to be 
built on top of a bund. The present proposal did not feature a bund. The committee were 
concerned that that the proposed acoustic fencing would not sufficiently mitigate noise 
transmission from diesel engines to the adjoining residential dwellings.  As a result, the 
amenity of local residents would be adversely affected. The committee also considered 
that the proposed fencing was inferior to the original scheme and would negatively affect 
the future operations and viability of the CPRR.

A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission failed on being put to the 
vote.

A motion moved and seconded, to refuse planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote. 

RESOLVED: to refuse planning permission for application P20/S2355/FUL for the 
following reasons:

1. Having to the height of proposed acoustic fence, the committee was not satisfied 
that it would provide suitable mitigation for the residents of Kiln Avenue from the 
noise and disturbance associated with the operation of Chinnor and Princes 
Risborough Railway.

2. Without suitable acoustic mitigation as required under planning permission 
P09/E0145/O, the noise from the longstanding railway and its diesel engines, would 
continue to have an adverse impact on the residential amenity of local residents. 

3. The lack of suitable acoustic mitigation could have the potential to impact on the 
continued operation of the Railway, which was a valuable heritage and tourist asset.

97 P19/S0058/FUL - Land to the south of Creek End, Abingdon Road, 
Burcot, OX14 3DJ 

Page 7



4

The committee considered application P19/S0058/FUL for the proposed erection of a 
detached five-bedroom dwelling and a detached double garage. (As amended by revised 
site plan revised FRA and drainage strategy received on 5 October 2020 and as revised 
and clarified by site layout drawing S2-P-02D amended to show trees on northern 
boundary received on 30 October 2020) on land to the south of Creek End, Abingdon 
Road, Burcot.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting.

The planning officer reported on updates to the report resulting from the adoption of the 
South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035. Under the heading Policy and Guidance, - 
Development Plan Policies at paragraph 5.1, ‘South Oxfordshire Emerging Local Plan’ 
should read South Oxfordshire ‘Adopted’ Local Plan

Mr. Adrian Gould, the agent, spoke in support of the application.

The committee considered that it was important to secure electric vehicle (EV) facilities, 
prior to occupation, through an additional condition.

A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote. 

RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P19/S0058/FUL subject to the 
following conditions:

Standard conditions;

1. Commencement three years - Full Planning Permission
2. Approved plans

Pre commencement conditions;

3. Construction Traffic Management (details required)
4. Survey of road and required repairs (prior to commencement)
5. Site Planting Scheme
6. Tree Protection (Detailed)
7. SW Drainage details required
8. Foul drainage works (details required)

Compliance conditions; 

9. Approved plans
10.External Materials
11.Parking and Turning

Additional condition regarding electric vehicle points prior to occupation 

98 P19/S1927/O - Land west of Pyrton Lane, Watlington 

Part way through the consideration of this application, members took a vote prior to the 
meeting guillotine of 8:30pm to continue consideration of this application and application 

Page 8



5

P19/S1928/O (land off Cuxham Road, Watlington) in view of the fact that the applications 
were interrelated and that all the speakers were present.

The committee considered application P19/S1927/O for outline planning permission for up 
to 60 homes with associated open space and sustainable drainage with all matters 
reserved. As amended/clarified by plans and information received 17 September 2020, on 
land west of Pyrton Lane, Watlington.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting.

The planning officer reported that the application sought permission for a residential 
development of up to 60 homes and associated open space and drainage.  The 
application was submitted in outline, with all matters reserved.  The matters of layout, 
scale, appearance, landscaping and access would be considered later under a ‘reserved 
matters’ application, if outline planning permission was granted.  It was also reported that 
the government’s Planning Casework Unit (PCU) had received a request from a third party 
to call-in the application. In the event of the committee approving the application, a referral 
to the PCU would be necessary. 

The planning officer also reported that the site did not fall within any areas of special 
designation. The Chilterns Area of Outstanding Beauty (AONB) was located around the 
south and east of Watlington. Pyrton Conservation Area lay to the north and adjoined the 
northeast boundary of the application site.  This neighbouring land was associated with the 
Grade II* listed Pyrton Manor.  There were several other listed buildings within Pyrton 
Conservation Area.
The planning officer advised the committee that Watlington Parish Council had a “made” 
Neighbourhood Development Plan (WNDP). Pyrton Parish Council also had a “made” 
neighbourhood plan.  The WNDP aimed to provide a minimum of 238 new homes and 
included an indicative route for a re-aligned B4009 to the north and west of the town, in 
order to reduce congestion in Watlington town centre, to improve air quality, afford a less 
hostile pedestrian environment and provide a route for some through traffic.  The 
application site was thus allocated for development in the WNDP.  The site-specific policy 
(Site C) supported proposals for residential development on this site and required the 
proposal to comply with several amenity and environmental criteria.  

The committee’s attention was drawn to appendix B of the report, which was an illustrative 
layout depicting the route of the edge road, as shown in the WNDP.  On the basis of the 
indicative plan, the planning officer was satisfied that this site could accommodate 60 
homes. The layout showed adequate open space and pockets of green space, with room 
for tree planting. This also would provide for a green buffer between the housing units and 
listed building Pyrton Manor. The planning officer reported that she had encouraged the 
applicant and neighbouring landowner to work together to find appropriate sensitive 
solutions for the boundary. It was also reported that the conservation officer had no 
objection to the application, but had commented that the development was likely to result 
in low level harm to the setting of heritage assets, but that this would be outweighed by the 
public benefits which would result.

The planning officer reported that at the request of Oxfordshire County Council (OCC), the 
applicant had submitted an alternative illustrative layout plan.  This was due to the exact 
route of the edge road not being finalised at this time.  The plans showed that, in 
combination, the application site and the neighbouring development site (Site B) could 

Page 9



6

deliver the edge road along either of the two options identified for the possible route of the 
road.

To illustrate the possible routes of the edge road, the committee was advised that the 
plans attached as appendix C in the report showed the indicative layout with an alternative 
route for the edge road, utilising the existing roundabout serving Willow Close. This route 
was not shown in the WNDP, but was the alternative option being explored by OCC and 
was shown as safeguarded in the South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) 2035.  OCC were 
carrying out an ‘optioneering’ exercise to determine the best route for the edge road, but 
had not yet issued an outcome. 

The planning officer also reported that as the application had been submitted in outline, 
with access as a reserved matter, the access point was not a matter to be considered 
under this application.  

The planning officer reported a recent occurrence of relevance to this application; an 
appeal scheme on site A allowed in 2020 was now being implemented, as building works 
has started on site. That application had shown the edge road. The planning officer had 
held discussions with the developer of site A, who was a willing to withdraw undetermined 
application which proposed utilisation of the Willow Close roundabout for the edge road. 
Therefore, this route, effectively the OCC’s route, would no longer be available.

The planning officer also reported that as part of the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth 
Deal, Oxfordshire County Council (OCC) had secured funding to forward fund delivery of 
parts of the edge road beyond the identified development sites along it. OCC was 
preparing a planning application for the road and that council’s ambition was to deliver the 
road by late 2023/early 2024.  The planning officer reported that the 
contributions/obligations which had been secured by OCC to mitigate the impact of the 
development were incorrectly stated at paragraph 6.70 of the report; instead of a £7,000 
per dwelling contribution towards Watlington edge road, this figure should read £7,400.  
The applicant was aware of this correction and had agreed the amounts.

The planning officer clarified that the comments made by the highways officer about two 4 
by 4s being able to pass each other along Pyrton Lane was only in reference to the part of 
Pyrton Lane that was to the north of where the edge road would meet Pyrton Lane.  The 
edge road through this site and the neighbouring site would by-pass the southern part of 
Pyrton Lane, including the tight ‘s’ bends and house frontages, where there was 
considerable safety concern.  The county council comments added that the edge road 
within the two sites would be required prior to first occupation of the sites so that no 
occupants would need to travel through the part of Pyrton Lane where the ‘s’ bends were.  
The highways officer had confirmed that this would be secured through the provision of the 
legal agreement that would need to be completed before planning permission was 
granted.  

The planning officer informed the committee that under the new local plan a new housing 
tenure mix had been proposed, as detailed in paragraphs 6.6 to 6.10 of the report. Policy 
H9 of the SOLP 2035 required a tenure mix of 40 per cent affordable rented, 35 per cent 
rented and 25 per cent other affordable routes to home ownership.  The council’s housing 
development team would be preparing new comments on the application based on the 
requirements of SOLP 2035 policy H9.

Page 10



7

The planning officer reported that an additional condition 28 would be recommended, 
which would be in addition to recommended condition 22 (air quality mitigation measures). 
To maintain control over all of housing, there would be a requirement for on plot electric 
vehicle charging points for all housing, communal parking and on street parking. These 
measures could be secured through a s106 agreement. The developer had anticipated 
these proposals and had agreed to them. 

Councillor Andrew McAuley, Chair of Watlington Parish Council Planning Committee, 
spoke in support of the application. His statement had been circulated to the committee 
prior to the meeting by the democratic services officer. He wished to make it clear that he 
also supported P19/S1928/O.

Mr. Ian Goldsmith, Chair of Cuxham with Easington Parish Meeting spoke objecting to the 
application. He wished to make clear that he also objected to application P19/S1928/O.

Mr. Jack Spence a representative of Shirburn Parish Meeting spoke objecting to the 
application. The parish meeting’s statement had been circulated to the committee prior to 
the meeting by the democratic services officer. Mr. Spence wished to make clear that he 
also objected to application P19/S1928/O.

Mr. Dominic Mahoney of Glebe Farm spoke objecting to the application. His statement had 
been circulated to the committee prior to the meeting by the democratic services officer.

Mr. Wayne Burt, the occupier/custodian of Pyrton Manor spoke objecting to the 
application.

Mr. Jeremy Bell representing Marlbrook Estate residents, spoke objecting to the 
application. His statement had been circulated to the committee prior to the meeting by the 
democratic services officer.

Mr. Robert Wickham, the agent spoke in support of the application. His statement had 
been circulated to the committee prior to the meeting by the democratic services officer.

Councillor Anna Badcock, the local ward councillor, spoke to the application.

In response to a question, regarding the timing and ordering of housing development and 
of roads, the planning officer confirmed that the edge road and access details would be 
considered at reserved matters stage. It was probable that any future edge road would not 
now use the Willow Close roundabout. The applicant was required to agree phasing within 
the application site, which would give the council some control over timing. However, 
decisions regarding the surrounding roads would not be forthcoming until later in 2021. 
Also in response to a question, regarding use of school and college land to improve the 
footpaths network and access to local fields, the planning office responded that this would 
also be dealt with at reserved matters stage and only land within the site’s boundary could 
be considered.

The committee considered that recommended extra condition 28 on electric vehicle 
charging points should be supported and requested officers to urge OCC to decide upon 
the edge road route without further delay.

A motion moved and seconded, to grant outline planning permission was declared carried 
on being put to the vote. 

Page 11



8

RESOLVED: to grant outline planning permission for application P19/S1927/O subject to 
the following conditions:

Referral to the National Casework Unit;

ii) The prior completion of a Section 106 agreement to secure the affordable housing, 
financial contributions and other obligations stated above, and

iii) The following conditions:

Reserved matters (inc. details to be submitted), time limit and approved plans

1. Submission of reserved matters 
2. Reserved matters to be submitted within three years
3. Commencement 
4. Approved plans 
5. No more than 60 dwellings
6. Market mix 
7. Details to be submitted with condition 1:
- energy statement
- details of roads, accesses, footpaths and services
- schedule of external materials 
- vehicle and cycle parking facilities 
- waste and recycling facilities
- boundary treatments  
- details of all street furniture
- existing and proposed ground levels 
- maintenance schedule and long-term management plan for soft landscaping

Pre-commencement

8. Phasing plan 
9. Details of off-site highway works 
10. Construction Traffic Management Plan 
11. Green Travel Plan 
12. Lighting plan
13. Environmental Management Plan for Biodiversity 
14. Biodiversity Enhancement Plan 
15. Tree and hedge protection 
16. Surface water drainage scheme 
17. Foul water drainage scheme (including Thames Waters requirements)
18. Noise from Edge Road and any necessary mitigation

Prior to Occupation

19. Access provision 
20. Pedestrian, cycle and vehicular access
21. Details of play areas and timetable for implementation 
22. Air quality mitigation measures 
23. Superfast broadband connectivity

Compliance conditions

Page 12



9

24. Hours of construction 
25. At least 15% of market housing to meet Part M (4) Category 2
26. At least 5% of affordable housing to meet Part M (4) Category 3
27. All affordable housing and 1 and 2 bed market housing to meet Nationally 
Described Space Standards

Additional condition 28 on electric vehicle charging points 

99 P19/S1928/O - Land off Cuxham Road, Watlington 

The committee considered application P19/S1928/O for outline planning permission for up 
to 70 homes with associated open space and sustainable drainage with all matters 
reserved. As amended/clarified by plans and information received 17 September 2020, on 
land off Cuxham Road, Watlington.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting.

The planning officer reminded the committee that as this was an outline application, all 
matters were reserved. Layout, scale, appearance, landscaping and access would be 
considered later under a ‘reserved matters’ application, if outline planning permission were 
granted.  Planning officers were satisfied that the site could accommodate 70 homes and 
deliver an edge road. 

The planning officer also reported that appendix C of the report depicted an indicative 
layout of the housing and roads, utilising the existing roundabout at Willow Close for the 
edge road.  This route was not shown in the Watlington Neighbourhood Development 
Plan, but was the alternative option being explored by Oxfordshire County Council (OCC) 
and was shown as safeguarded in the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035. OCC had yet to 
determine the line of the edge road. 

The report contained updated comments from council officers regarding the housing mix. 
The council’s housing development team had commented on this application prior to the 
adoption of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) 2035, and had suggested a mix 
which accorded with the affordable housing policy in the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 
(SOCS).  The SOCS policy (policy CSH3) required a tenure mix of 75 per cent social 
rented and 25 per cent shared ownership. New council Policy H9 of the SOLP 2035 
required a tenure mix of 40 per cent affordable rented, 35 per cent social rented and 25 
per cent other affordable routes to home ownership. The affordable homes would be 
secured through the provisions of a section 106 legal agreement.

The planning officer reported that an additional condition 28 would be recommended, 
which would be in addition to recommended condition 22 (air quality mitigation measures). 
There would be a requirement for on plot electric vehicle charging points for all housing, 
communal parking and on street parking. These measures could be secured through a 
s.106 agreement. The developer had anticipated these proposals and had agreed to them. 

The planning officer reported that the contributions/obligations which had been secured by 
OCC to mitigate the impact of the development were incorrectly stated at paragraph 6.70 
of the report; instead of a £7,000 per dwelling contribution towards Watlington edge road, 

Page 13



10

this figure should read £7,400.  The applicant was aware of this correction and had agreed 
the amounts.
The planning officer was also reported that the government’s Planning Casework Unit 
(PCU) had received a request from a third party to call-in the application. In the event of 
the committee approving the application, a referral to the PCU would be necessary. 

Cllr. Andrew McAuley, Chair of the Watlington Parish Council Planning Committee in 
support of the application. The democratic services officer had submitted his statement to 
the committee prior to the meeting. 

Councillor Ian Goldsmith, Chair of Cuxham with Easington parish meeting spoke objecting 
to the application. He wished to make clear that he also objected to application 
P19/S1927/O.

Mr. Jeremy Bell representing Marlbrook Estate residents spoke objecting to the 
application. The democratic services officer had submitted his statement to the committee 
prior to the meeting.

Mr. Dominic Mahoney of Glebe Farm spoke objecting to the application. The democratic 
services officer had submitted his statement to the committee prior to the meeting.

Mr. Robert Wickham, the agent spoke in support of the application. The democratic 
services officer had submitted his statement to the committee prior to the meeting.

Councillor Anna Badcock, the local ward councillor, spoke to the application.

The committee considered that recommended extra condition 28 on electric vehicle 
charging points should be supported, and requested officers to urge OCC to decide upon 
the edge road route without further delay.

A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote. 

RESOLVED: to grant outline planning permission for application P19/S1928/O subject to 
the following conditions:

i) Referral to the National Casework Unit;

ii) The prior completion of a Section 106 agreement to secure the affordable housing, 
financial contributions and other obligations stated above, and

iii) The following conditions:

Reserved matters (including details to be submitted), time limit and approved plans

1. Submission of reserved matters 
2. Reserved matters to be submitted within three years
3. Commencement 
4. Approved plans 
5. No more than 70 dwellings
6. Market mix 
7. Details to be submitted with condition 1:
- energy statement

Page 14



11

- details of roads, accesses, footpaths and services
- schedule of external materials 
- vehicle and cycle parking facilities 
- waste and recycling facilities
- boundary treatments  
- details of all street furniture
- existing and proposed ground levels 
- maintenance schedule and long-term management plan for soft landscaping

Pre-commencement

8. Phasing plan 
9. Details of off-site highway works 
10. Construction Traffic Management Plan 
11. Green Travel Plan 
12. Lighting plan
13. Environmental Management Plan for Biodiversity 
14. Biodiversity Enhancement Plan 
15. Tree and hedge protection 
16. Surface water drainage scheme 
17. Foul water drainage scheme (including Thames Waters requirements)
18. Noise from Edge Road and any necessary mitigation

Prior to Occupation 

19. Access provision 
20. Pedestrian, cycle and vehicular access
21. Details of play areas and timetable for implementation 
22. Air quality mitigation measures 
23. Superfast broadband connectivity

Compliance conditions

24. Hours of construction 
25. At least 15% of market housing to meet Part M (4) Category 2
26. At least 5% of affordable housing to meet Part M (4) Category 3
27. All affordable housing and 1 and 2 bed market housing to meet Nationally 
Described Space Standards 

Additional condition 28 on electric vehicle charging points

The meeting closed at 9.10 pm

Chairman Date
Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 23rd February 2021

APPLICATION NO. P18/S4100/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 6.8.2020
PARISH KIDMORE END
WARD MEMBER Peter Dragonetti
APPLICANT Mr W. Mahoney
SITE Kerak, Chalkhouse Green Road, Kidmore End, RG4 

9AS
PROPOSAL Retrospective change of use of land and buildings 

from C3 (dwellinghouses) to Sui Generis (mix of 
residential and childcare) (additional information 
concerning Offsted and access details received 24th 
May 2019 and access, parking and waste collection 
details updated as shown on amended and 
additional documents received 4th February 2020 
and revised application form and site area and 
additional transport statement and travel plan 
received 6th August 2020)

OFFICER Paul Lucas

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
1.1 Officers recommend that planning permission is granted. This report explains how 

officers have reached this conclusion. The application is referred to the Planning 
Committee due to the recommendation being a significant departure from the views of 
the Local Highway Authority, a statutory consultee.

1.2 The application site is shown at Appendix A. It comprises a two storey dwellinghouse 
and three outbuildings, which are in a mixed residential and childcare use, operated 
by Chalkhouse Childcare Services. It is in a backland location on the east side of 
Chalkhouse Green Road at the south-eastern edge of the settlement of Kidmore End. 
The site is served by a 75-metre-long driveway, 60 metres of which runs alongside the 
side elevation of Pentewan, a semi-detached dwelling. The front of the access is a 
shared driveway that serves four other dwellings. The site also adjoins the rear 
gardens of Pentewan, Lilacs, Firenze, Cynisca and Bramdean and is bordered on two 
other sides by undeveloped land in the ownership of Vines Farm, located about 250 
metres to the south-east. The Chilterns AONB washes over the site and the 
settlement.

1.3 The application seeks to regularise the existing dual-use of the site by obtaining full 
planning permission for the day nursery element. The nursery commenced operating 
in 2011, with an average of 20 children in attendance per day. In 2015, the nursery 
obtained a ‘GOOD’ Ofsted rating and since March 2016 has operated at current levels 
with a maximum of 26 children in attendance per day. The plans show that part of the 
ground floor of the house, Outbuilding ‘A’ at the north-western end of the site and 
Outbuilding ‘B’ in the north-eastern corner of the site are used for childcare, with play 
areas in between. The south-western end of the site remains in residential use, which 
adjoins most of the aforementioned gardens, with only part of the rear garden of 
Bramdean directly adjacent to the childcare areas.

Page 17

Agenda Item 8

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S4100/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 23rd February 2021

1.4 A transport statement and travel plan have been submitted in support of the 
application. The plans can be found at Appendix B. Other supporting documents can 
be found on the Council’s website.

2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
2.1 Kidmore End Parish Council - The red line on drawing 3069/200 rev C does not accord 

with title ON160240 at the Land Registry. The access rights asserted by the applicant 
are not recorded at the Land Registry.

Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council) – The application should be 
refused:
1. Visibility - The proposal would intensify the use of the access to the highway which 
lacks appropriate visibility, to the detriment of the safety of highway users.
2. Layout and Circulation – The accessway, turning and parking provision is impractical; 
and would result in excessive manoeuvring and parking within the site and on the 
adjacent highway network to the detriment of the safety and convenience of highway 
users.
3. Accessibility – The accessibility of the site is poor, being highly dependent upon car 
use; there is not any separate provision for pedestrians or cyclists other than the unlit
carriageway, and there is no practical opportunity to use public transport. The location 
of the site is, therefore, considered unsustainable in transport terms.

Env. Protection Team – No records of complaints: no objection.

Third Parties – Four original representations of objection and concern; one 
representation of objection and concern having regard to the additional information 
supplied in the transport statement and travel plan, summarised as follows:

 Not a sustainable location for a business of this size;
 Maintains that access partly reliant on land owned by Vines Farm and 

reinstatement of boundary would reduce space for access and parking;
 Disagree with the applicant’s assertion that the car traffic would be below the 

levels in the TRICS database;
 Many customers live outside Kidmore End where driving is the only option;
 Insufficient parking provision;
 Travel plan would be unenforceable;
 Concern over access arrangements;
 Concern about potential increased traffic if numbers of children were to 

increase;
 Concern about future maintenance of part of the access subject to shared 

access rights [this is a private matter];
 Obstruction of shared access has resulted in a ‘scrape’ incident in January 

2019.

Third Parties – 72 representations expressing support for the application on the basis of 
the public benefits to the local population of the nursery continuing in this location, 
including existing and former customers of the nursery living within the village and 
nearby settlements.

These representations can be viewed in full on the Council’s website.

Page 18

https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P18/S4100/FUL
https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P18/S4100/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 23rd February 2021

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
3.1 SE18/325 -  Current enforcement investigation

without planning permission the material change of use of property from residential to 
childcare nursery and the erection of related buildings

P08/E0177 - Approved (14/04/2008)
Erection of detached replacement dwelling.

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
4.1 Whilst located in a sensitive area, the proposal is not of a scale that would require an 

Environmental Statement.

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 Development Plan Policies

South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) Policies:
DES1  -  Delivering High Quality Development
DES2  -  Enhancing Local Character
DES3  -  Design and Access Statements
DES6  -  Residential Amenity
DES7  -  Efficient Use of Resources
DES8  -  Promoting Sustainable Design
DES10  -  Carbon Reduction
EMP10  -  Development in Rural Areas
ENV1  -  Landscape and Countryside
ENV12  -  Pollution - Impact of Development on Human Health, the Natural 
Environment and/or Local Amenity (Potential Sources of Pollution)
STRAT1  -  The Overall Strategy
TRANS4  -  Transport Assessments, Transport Statements and Travel Plans
TRANS5  -  Consideration of Development Proposals

5.2 Kidmore End Neighbourhood Plan
The parish council recently ran the statutory pre-submission consultation on the draft 
plan, which ended on 16 January. The local community and statutory consultees were 
invited to offer their comments on the draft neighbourhood plan. The parish council are 
reviewing comments received and making changes to the draft plan before formally 
submitting it to the district council. Once the plan has been submitted, the district 
council will organise a further six-week publicity period, inviting comments from the 
public and statutory consultees.  All documents and comments received are then 
submitted for independent examination. The draft KENP carries very limited weight at 
this early stage in its preparation.

5.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)
South Oxfordshire Landscape Assessment – Character Area 10

5.4 National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance

5.5 Other Relevant Legislation
Human Rights Act 1998
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the 
processing of the application and the preparation of this report.

Page 19

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=SE18/325
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P08/E0177


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 23rd February 2021

Equality Act 2010
In determining this planning application, the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The relevant planning considerations are whether the proposed retention of the 

day nursery use is:
 acceptable in principle;
 impacting on the landscape setting of the village within the Chilterns 

AONB;
 safeguarding adjoining residential amenity;
 resulting in conditions prejudicial to highway and pedestrian safety; and
 giving rise to other material planning considerations.

6.2 Principle of Development
The SOLP 2035 Policy STRAT1 sets out the overall strategy for the District. It seeks to 
focus most major new development at the growth point of Didcot, with Henley, Thame 
and Wallingford also being a focus for development and regeneration. The SOLP 2035 
Policy EMP10 states that proposals for sustainable economic growth in rural areas will 
be supported. The day nursery is located on the edge of the built-up area of Kidmore 
End, which is classified as a ‘smaller village’ in the SOLP 2035 settlement hierarchy. 
The Settlement Assessment Background Paper explains that Kidmore End achieves 
this classification through the facilities and services that it contains and through those 
available at Sonning Common (the crossroads in the centre of Kidmore End lies about 
1.2 kilometres from the village centre on Wood Lane in Sonning Common).

6.3 The SOLP 2035 Policy H16 supports new housing in the form of residential infill 
development of a scale appropriate to its location in smaller villages. It is likely that the 
KENP would also make some housing allocations. In spite of the objection from the 
Local Highway Authority on transport sustainability grounds, it is difficult to argue that 
Kidmore End is not a sufficiently sustainable location to continue to support the day 
nursery, given that more housing growth is expected and planned for within the 
settlement. Whilst the day nursery does increase vehicular trips into the village from 
customers living elsewhere, conversely there are Kidmore End residents whom would 
otherwise have to make trips to other settlements to access alternative childcare 
services. On this basis, officers consider that the location is sufficiently sustainable to 
be able to support the continued use as a day nursery and the proposal is acceptable in 
principle.

6.4 Visual Impact
The built form of the existing dwelling and the garage known as Outbuilding C was 
established through planning permission P08/E0177, which replaced a previous 
dwelling in this location. Outbuildings A and B have been subsequently added to the 
site. Whilst these have increased the built footprint on the site, these are both of a 
domestic scale and appearance with three and four-metre-high roofs, respectively and 
do not appear disproportionate to the size of the plot. The site boundaries contain a 
mixture of hedging and much of the plot remains open, split evenly between play areas, 
residential garden and the frontage parking. In the light of the above site 
circumstances, the existing use of the site does not have any discernible physical 
impact on its edge of settlement surroundings. Whilst this mixed use is a more active 
use than the previous use as a single family dwellinghouse, the day nursery hours of 
operation do not extend beyond normal working hours on weekdays. As such, officers 
consider that the proposal does not detract from the tranquillity of the surrounding 
Chilterns AONB countryside. In the light of the above assessment, officers consider that 
the proposal conserves the landscape setting of this part of the village within the 

Page 20

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P08/E0177


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 23rd February 2021

Chilterns AONB and that the proposal would be in compliance with the SOLP 2035 
Policies DES1, DES2 & ENV1.

6.5 Residential Amenity Impact:
Outbuilding B has been positioned at the end of the site furthest from adjoining 
gardens. Outbuilding A is located close to the site boundary with Bramdean’s rear 
garden, with an intervening boundary hedge and at a distance of 44 metres from the 
rear of that dwelling. The outdoor play areas are located a similar distance from the rear 
of the closest dwellings, with the domestic garden being retained in between. This level 
of separation combined with the hours of operation, aligning with typical working hours, 
has meant that the day nursery has been able to operate in a manner that enables 
adjoining residents to continue to enjoy their residential amenity without suffering undue 
noise nuisance issues. This is demonstrated by the absence of any complaints to the 
Council’s Environmental Health Officer, who has raised no objections to the application. 
It is also notable that whilst adjoining residents have raised concerns, none of these 
relate specifically to loss of privacy from noise nuisance.  As such the proposal would 
have an acceptable impact in relation to light, outlook or privacy in accordance with the 
SOLP 2035 Policy DES6.

6.6 Access and Parking
The Local Highway Authority (LHA) has reviewed the submitted Transport Statement 
and Travel Plan. At the access to the highway, the submitted plans demonstrate 
visibility along the carriageway of 25m at a setback of 2.0m. A 25m visibility splay would 
only meet the guidance set out within the document ‘Manual for Streets’ where passing 
traffic is traveling at a speed of 20mph or below, 25m being the calculated stopping site 
distance at 20mph. Although the access lies within a 20mph speed limit zone, starting 
100 metres to the south, no speed surveys have been provided for consideration to 
corroborate this and the LHA’s on-site observations suggest the majority of vehicles are 
travelling above 20mph.

6.7 Visibility splays are demonstrated from the centre point of the access, which is standard 
practice, however, in this instance a telegraph pole is sited at the centre of the access. 
Given the location of the telegraph pole, on egress a driver’s position would be to the 
left of the pole, nearer the boundary hedge, therefore reducing the visibility available to 
the left. Visibility splays have been measured to the centre of the major carriageway. 
Standard practice is to measure to the nearside kerb or running channel, however, a 
centre line approach is advocated by Manual for Streets 2, where vehicles approaching 
from the left would be unlikely to cross the centre line. From the LHA’s observations on 
site it is apparent that many vehicles straddle the centre line with the driver’s position to 
the right of it and therefore the inter-visibility of drivers approaching the site and those 
egressing would be less than the quoted 25m visibility splay.

6.8 This proposal would significantly increase the number of vehicular movements 
generated from the development. The permitted residential use would be expected to 
generate 6-8 vehicle trips per dwelling per day whereas the submitted documents 
suggest the proposals would provide childcare for 26 children and 11 staff on site. The 
submitted Transport Statement provides a record of pick up and drop off trips for 
Monday 6th and Tuesday 7th January 2020. The record shows 60 car trips associated 
with 18 children on the Monday and 76 car trips associated with 23 children on the 
Tuesday. This suggests a daily car trip rate per child of approximately 3.3, which would 
equate to 86 car trips for 26 children. The Transport Statement clarifies the total of 
eleven staff equate to 7 full time employees. It is assumed; therefore, 7 staff are on site 
at any time but there is no information regarding shift patterns to determine the likely 
trip generation. Applying a travel mode share similar to that of the pupils would equate 
to 18 daily car trips. Using the recorded data and assuming similar modal share for staff 

Page 21



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 23rd February 2021

travel results in a total of 104 daily car trips. The LHA also calculates that full 
attendance could potentially result in a maximum of 126 daily car trips. The LHA objects 
to this intensification of use of what they regard to be a substandard access.
The Transport Statement (TS) detailed that each drop off would last 4½ minutes, this 
figure is a result of 13 trips over an hour time period, however the LHA states this would 
not be the case as the nature of a child day care facility would result in an intense level 
of movement within a narrow timeframe rather than an even spread. Furthermore, this 
does not take into account matters such as, but not limited to, discussions between 
parents and staff, ‘settling in’ children, or children/parents arriving late.

6.9 The LHA comments that the existing private access way is relatively narrow and runs 
for approximately 60m from the access to the highway to the parking and manoeuvring 
area adjacent to the nursery buildings. The vegetation along one side of the access 
way further constrains the width available and two cars are unable to pass along its 
length, as the Transport Statement notes, ‘access drive works as a single vehicle width 
access’. The submitted visibility splays plan identifies the shared driveway as being the 
area where vehicles can pass. The applicant indicates that there is parking for two 
domestic vehicles and six spaces for nursery staff and customers. Given the narrow 
width of the private access drive which does not allow for two vehicles to pass without 
alterations and the limited space available for parking spaces available, the LHA 
considers that this is likely to result in vehicles parking indiscriminately and or 
obstructively within the access. This would result in conflict with existing accesses and 
an increased risk to Highway Safety and to the safety of other users within the vicinity.

6.10 In the light of the above assessment, officers conclude that the retention of the day 
nursery would result in an increased risk to highway and pedestrian safety to the extent 
that there would be conflict with the SOLP 2035 Policy TRANS5 and the relevant 
paragraphs in the NPPF.

6.11 Other Material Planning Considerations
Officers acknowledge that the deficiencies in both the access and parking 
arrangements and the intensification of use brought about by the day nursery is 
increasing the risk to pedestrian and highway safety. However, the day nursery has 
been operating since 2011 and at current child and staff numbers since 2016. In that 
time, officers have been made aware of only one reported incident which involved a 
parked customer vehicle being scraped by an adjoining resident’s vehicle.

6.12 The submitted Travel Plan aims to reduce the future risk of incidents occurring through 
instigating measures to promote car sharing, walking and cycling and a drop 
off/collection regime. The Travel Plan as currently submitted is in a draft format, but the 
programme and targets could be formally adopted through liaison with Oxfordshire 
County Council Travel Plans Team. This could be achieved through the completion of a 
unilateral undertaking to secure payment to OCC to cover the costs of travel plan 
monitoring before planning permission is granted and then a planning condition 
requiring the Travel Plan to be formally submitted and agreed within a set period of time 
along with a monitoring regime. Officers consider that the adoption of a Travel Plan 
would be a significant measure in reducing any risk to highway and pedestrian safety 
from the continued operation of the day nursery.

6.13 Officers have also weighed the harm to highway and pedestrian safety against the 
benefits that the day nursery is bringing to the local community. In this regard, the 
Council has received significant correspondence in support of the application, some 
from village residents and key workers. The local pre-school closed in summer 2019, 
which appears to have increased the importance of the day nursery to the local 
community. Officers consider that the benefits of the continued operation of the 

Page 22



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 23rd February 2021

business should carry significant weight in favour of the application. Officers have 
concluded that, on balance, the benefits of retaining the day nursery would outweigh 
the reduced risk to highway and pedestrian safety with the Travel Plan in place.
The adjoining landowner to the south-east of the site has raised a boundary issue and 
considers that their rights to erect a boundary fence and planting would further reduce 
the space available along the driveway. However, the applicant disputes that there 
would be any reduction in the width of the driveway as shown on the plans. However, in 
any event, it is already acknowledged in the Transport Statement that vehicles should 
pass on the wider shared part of the access or within the parking and turning area 
rather than on the narrow section of the driveway, so any reduction would not limit the 
ability of vehicles to safely pass in those areas to any significant degree.

6.14 Kidmore End Parish Council have raised the issue of some land on the frontage shown 
to be within the red edge area to be outside of the applicant’s ownership. This is 
correct; however, the actual ownership is unknown and for the purposes of this 
application, the applicant has taken the correct steps in completing a Certificate D and 
placing an advertisement in the Henley Standard to advertise this to any owner of the 
land. This means that the application is valid.

6.15 Officers consider that planning conditions are necessary and reasonable to restrict the 
number of children to current maximum levels and to restrict the hours of operation to 
those stated in the application to address any concerns about intensification in the 
future. It is also considered necessary and reasonable to impose conditions requiring 
the submission of a revised parking layout and details of cycle parking for agreement 
with the Local Highway Authority within a set period of time.

6.16 Community Infrastructure Levy
This type of application is not CIL liable.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 Officers consider that the application site lies in a sustainable location, therefore the 

retention of the day nursery use is acceptable in principle. Whilst the Local Highway 
Authority consider that the intensification of use of the substandard access and parking 
arrangements pose a continued risk to highway and pedestrian safety, officers consider 
that this risk could be reduced through the adoption of a formalised Travel Plan for the 
business. Officers then consider that the benefits to the local community of having the 
day nursery located within the village would, on balance, outweigh the risk to highway 
and pedestrian safety. The retained use of the site also conserves the landscape 
setting within this part of the Chilterns AONB and is not resulting in any significant loss 
of residential amenity. On this basis, officers consider that the proposal would comply 
with the Development Plan when taken as a whole.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 Resolve to delegate the Grant of Planning Permission to the Head of Planning 

subject to the completion of a unilateral undertaking to pay the costs of Travel 
Plan monitoring.

1 : Development in accordance with the approved plans 
2 : Existing vehicular access to be improved
3 : Vision splay protection 
4 : Plan of Car Parking Provision details to be agreed
5 : Cycle Parking Facilities details to be agreed
6 : Green Travel Plan details to be agreed and monitored by OCC

Page 23



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 23rd February 2021

7 : Limit of 26 children at any time and no change of use to other uses within 
     Class E  
8 : Hours of operation only between 7:30am and 6pm weekdays

Author:           Paul Lucas
Contact No:   01235 422600
Email:             planning@southoxon.gov.uk

Page 24



Appendix A

Page 25

Agenda Item 8P18/S4100/FUL



Page 26



Kerak
(existing
house)

OUTBUILDING A
- CHILD CARE

OUTBUILDING B
- CHILD CARE

OUTBUILDING C
- EXISTING GARAGE

HOUSE
- BABY CHILD CARE

PLAY AREA
- CHILD CARE

PLAY AREA
- BABY CHILD CARE

Residential
Garden

PLAY AREA
- CHILD CARE

0m

1m

2m

4m

8m

16m

1:200 scale Bar

This Drawing has been produced for printing onto A3 size paper,

Kerak
(existing
house)

OUTBUILDING A
- CHILD CARE

OUTBUILDING B
- CHILD CARE

OUTBUILDING C
- EXISTING GARAGE

HOUSE
- BABY CHILD CARE

PLAY AREA
- CHILD CARE

PLAY AREA
- BABY CHILD CARE

Residential
Garden

PLAY AREA
- CHILD CARE

0m

6.2m

12.5m

25m

50m

100m

1:1250 scale Bar

This Drawing has been produced for printing onto A3 size paper,

www.stlarchitecture.co.uk 0118 989 0808

CLIENT

PROJECT

DRAWING

SCALE DRAWN NO REV

STATUS

Mr W Mahoney
Kerak, Chalkhouse Green Road

Site and Location Plans

1:200/1250
Planning

TB 3609/200 C
THIS DRAWING MUST NOT BE SCALED UNLESS ISSUED FOR PLANNING PURPOSES. ALL DIMENSIONS ARE TO BE VERIFIED PRIOR TO SETTING OUT,
COMMENCING WORK, OR PRODUCTION OF FABRICATION DRAWINGS. REPORT ANY DISCREPANCIES TO THE SUPERVISING OFFICER IMMEDIATELY.  ©

REV COMMENTS DATE

Kidmore End, RG4 9AS

studio@stlarchitecture.co.uk

CHECKED

DATE Nov 2018

Location Plan 1:1250

Site Plan 1:200

Appendix B

P
age 27

AutoCAD SHX Text
New Holme

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
Saxons

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
Bramdean

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
Pentewan

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
Inisfree

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
Brandoch

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
Cynisca

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
New Holme

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
Firenze

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
CHALKHOUSE GREEN ROAD



R
O
A
D

G
R
E
E
N

C
H
A
L
K
H
O
U
S
E

Page 28



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 23 February 2021

APPLICATION NO. P20/S2729/HH
APPLICATION TYPE HOUSEHOLDER
REGISTERED 27.7.2020
PARISH THAME
WARD MEMBERS Pieter-Paul Barker

Kate Gregory
David Bretherton

APPLICANT Mr Lloyd Smith
SITE 44 Cedar Crescent, Thame, OX9 2AU
PROPOSAL Variation of condition 2 (approved Plans) of 

application P19/S0998/HH (Single storey rear and 
side extension and alterations) -To allow for 
alterations to the approved scheme to facilitate 
provision of first floor accommodation within roof 
void (as amended by plan and additional information 
received 12 October 2020 providing floor level 
information and plans received 26 November 2020 
reducing depth of side roof extension).

OFFICER Victoria Clarke

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
1.1 This application has been called to Planning Committee by Cllr Kate Gregory for the 

following reasons:
 out of character
 unneighbourly
 overdevelopment 
 impact on Cuttle Brook Nature Reserve

1.2 Officers recommend the application for approval for the reasons outlined in this report.

1.3 The application site is shown at Appendix 1.  The application property is a 1960s 
detached bungalow located within a built-up residential area of Thame, known as the 
Chiltern Vale estate.

1.4 The site falls within Flood Zone 3.  Cuttle Brook Nature Reserve adjoins the rear 
boundary of the site.

1.5 The application seeks to vary plans of a previously approved application to extend the 
property in order to allow an increase in size of the first floor accommodation within 
the roof space.  Copies of the current plans are provided at Appendix 2.  Two 
previous permissions remain extant and the approved plans are included at Appendix 
3.  

1.6 The current application seeks to vary the plans by increasing the depth of the first 
floor accommodation / roof span along the south western elevation, utilising a crown 
roof in order to provide a less constrained bedroom on this side of the building (the 
total number of proposed bedrooms remains the same as previously approved).  An 
additional rooflight is also proposed along with some changes to the fenestration at 
ground floor level.

Page 29

Agenda Item 9

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P20/S2729/HH


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 23 February 2021

2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
2.1 Thame Town Council – Objection:

 Out of character
 Unneighbourly
 Overdevelopment 
 Impact on Cuttle Brook Nature Reserve

Drainage - (South & Vale) – No objection

Neighbours – Seven households have objected to the proposal:
 The resulting two-storey house will be out of character in a street of bungalows
 Loss of bungalows housing stock
 Concern that a precedent will be set for bungalows becoming two storey houses
 Out of character – higher roof ridge and overall design is unlike other 

neighbouring properties and will ruin the character of the street.  Surrounding 
area of Cedar Crescent, Sycamore Drive, Hawthorn Avenue and Chestnut 
Avenue all have identical roof lines and structures.

 Increase in first floor footprint.  The reduction from the initially submitted plan is 
insignificant and the proposed plans almost double the size of two of the first 
floor bedrooms.

 Overlooking / loss of privacy – additional roof lights will overlook neighbouring 
properties’ gardens

 Overshadowing – loss of daylight to neighbouring bedroom windows
 Failure to comply with building regulations for means of escape 
 Negative impact on public views from the nature reserve
 The incremental nature of planning applications for the proposal

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
3.1 P19/S4651/HH - Approved (17/02/2020)

Variation of condition 2 (approved plans) of application P19/S0998/HH (Single storey 
rear and side extension and alterations) - To allow for alterations to the approved 
scheme to facilitate provision of first floor accommodation within roof void, an 
enlargement of approved side extension and changes to existing or approved doors 
and windows. (as amended by plans received 30 January 2020 reducing the size of the 
roof extension over the garage, changing the fenestration, and omitting the rear 
balcony).

P19/S0998/HH - Approved (22/05/2019)
Single storey rear and side extension and alterations.

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
4.1 Not applicable

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 Development Plan Policies

South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) Policies:
DES1 Delivering High Quality Development
DES2  Enhancing Local Character
DES5 Outdoor Amenity Space
DES6 Residential Amenity
DES7  Efficient Use of Resources
DES8 Promoting Sustainable Design
H20 Extensions to Dwellings
EP4 Flood Risk

Page 30

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S4651/HH
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S0998/HH


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 23 February 2021

INF4  Water Resources
TRANS5 Consideration of Development Proposals

5.2 Thame Neighbourhood Plan
ESDQ16 Development must relate well to its site and its surroundings
ESDQ21 Development proposals, particularly where sited on the edge of Thame or 

adjoining Cuttle Brook, must maintain visual connections with the 
countryside

ESDQ22 The visual impact of new development on views from the countryside 
must be minimised

ESDQ28 Provide good quality private outdoor space

ESDQ29 Design car parking so that it fits in with the character of the proposed 
development

5.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)

5.4 National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance

5.5 Other Relevant Legislation
Human Rights Act 1998
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the 
processing of the application and the preparation of this report.

Equality Act 2010
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The relevant planning considerations are the following:

 Current policy
 Design and character
 Residential amenity
 Access and Parking
 Other material planning considerations

6.2 Current Policy
The key policy for assessing this application is SOLP Policy H20 (Extensions to 
dwellings), which states that extensions to dwellings will be permitted provided that 
adequate and satisfactory parking is provided and sufficient amenity areas are provided 
for the extended dwelling.  Development should have regard to the advice within the 
South Oxfordshire Design Guide.

6.3 Design and character
The design of the proposed development is almost identical in appearance to the 
previously approved application P19/S4651/HH with the exception being the proposed 
first floor roof extension to the south western side extending deeper, towards the rear of 
the plot.  When viewed from the street, the front elevation would be unchanged 
compared to the previously approved scheme.

6.4 Officers have previously found the proposed increase in roof ridge and eaves height 
and the alteration to the pitch of the roof slope acceptable.

Page 31



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 23 February 2021

6.5 Officers consider the proposal enables the property to retain its appearance of a 
bungalow from the front.  Rooflights would be visible but these are not uncommon on 
surrounding properties.  A sufficient visual gap between the roofs of 44 and 42 Cedar 
Crescent would also be retained.  Officers are satisfied the proposal would not be 
harmful to the character of the street and that the property would still relate well to the 
surrounding area.  

6.6 Thame Neighbourhood Plan Policy ESDQ21 requires that where possible development 
proposals adjoining Cuttle Brook maintain visual connections with the countryside.  This 
primarily relates to larger sites for housing development and the policy refers to new 
streets following the same alignment as existing streets.  Officers consider the 
proposed development does not affect the visual connection with the countryside at 
Cuttle Brook.

6.7 Residential amenity
Concerns have been raised about the loss of light and outlook for neighbouring 
property 42 Cedar Crescent as a result of the proposed enlargement of the first floor 
footprint on the south-west elevation.

6.8 Plans were initially submitted with this application proposing a much deeper first floor 
extension with a footprint extending approximately 11.70 metres along the south 
western boundary.  At the request of officers, amended plans have been submitted 
reducing this to just under 9 metres.  Officers consider the amendment is sufficient to 
overcome our concerns about the impact on the neighbouring property at 42 Cedar 
Crescent.

6.9 A comparison of the existing, approved and proposed south western elevation is shown 
in the following plans:

Existing

  

Previously approved under application P19/S0998/HH

Page 32



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 23 February 2021

Previously approved under application P19/S4651/HH

Rejected by officers as part of this application

Currently proposed

6.10 The neighbouring property at 42 Cedar Crescent has three high level ground floor 
windows along the boundary with the application property.  It is noted that one of these 
windows appears to serve an en suite and is not therefore a habitable room, and all 
three rooms appear to be served by windows or rooflights in addition to these high level 
windows.  
  

6.11 The mass of the proposed roof would result in the loss of some light to two of these 
windows in particular, but due to the pitch of the proposed roof sloping away from the 
windows and low height of the eaves, officers are of the view that the reduction in light 
and outlook from the rooms in the neighbouring property would not be harmful and 
therefore is not sufficient reason to warrant refusing the application.

6.12 The full-length window with a Juliet balcony proposed on the rear elevation was 
considered acceptable on the previously approved application because it is set 
sufficiently far from the site boundary.  Whilst some level of overlooking of the 
neighbouring rear gardens at 42 and 46 Cedar Crescent will be introduced, this would 
be at an oblique angle and the relationship will be similar to that commonly found in 
urban residential areas and is not considered to be harmful.

Page 33



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 23 February 2021

6.13 Rooflight windows are proposed on the side elevations facing towards 42 and 46 Cedar 
Crescent.  Most of these are positioned so that they would not result in an 
unacceptable level of overlooking of private garden areas.  However, officers consider it 
necessary to require the rooflights on the side elevations serving the master bedroom 
to be obscure glazed and fixed shut to avoid overlooking because they are positioned 
towards the rear of the property.  

6.14 Access and Parking
An integral garage is proposed as part of the extension and sufficient space will be 
retained on the driveway to accommodate parking associated with the extended 
property.

6.15 Flooding
The floor levels of the property will be raised by 0.3 metres above the existing floor 
levels of the dwelling.  The works will be undertaken in accordance with the guidance 
contained in section 6 of the joint DCLG and Environment Agency publication 
‘Improving the flood resilience of new buildings’ and this will, amongst other things, 
include the following:

 The provision of sealed service entry points;
 The use of non-return valves in the drainage system to prevent backflow of

diluted sewage;
 Water, electricity and gas meters and electricity sockets will be set at a

suitable height above the new internal floor level; and
 Communications and other wiring will be suitably insulated in the distribution

ducting to prevent damage.

6.16 Officers are satisfied that these are suitable flood resilience measure that will minimise 
the impact of future flooding events.

6.17 Community Infrastructure Levy
In this case the development is not liable for CIL because the proposal would result in 
the addition of less than 100m2 of floor space.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 Officers recommend this application for approval because subject to the conditions 

recommended the scale and design of the proposed extensions would generally be in 
keeping with the character of the property, the street and surrounding area, and the 
proposal would not harm the amenities of occupiers of neighbouring dwellings.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 Grant Planning Permission subject to the following conditions:

1 : Commencement of the development within three years of planning permission
2 : Development in accordance with the approved plans
3 : Materials to match the existing building (walls and roof)
4 : Obscure glazing of two rooflight windows
6 : No additional windows, doors or other openings
7 : Parking & manoeuvring areas to be provided and retained
8 : Implementation of flood resilience measures

Author: Victoria Clarke
Tel:        01235 422600
Email:    Planning@southoxon.gov.uk

Page 34



South Oxfordshire District Council – «REPORT_NAME»

1 Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

Page 37

Agenda Item 9P20/S2729/HH



Appendix 2

P
age 38



P
age 39



P
age 40



Appendix 3

P
age 41



P
age 42



P
age 43



P
age 44



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 23 February 2021

APPLICATION NO. P20/S4830/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 16.12.2020
PARISH BRITWELL SALOME
WARD MEMBER Anna Badcock
APPLICANT Mr and Mrs M Newton
SITE Coopers Farm, Britwell Salome, OX49 5JZ
PROPOSAL Development of a pond
OFFICER Hannah Gibbons

1.0 INTRODUCTION 
1.1 This application is referred to Planning Committee because the applicant is a District 

Councillor.

1.2 The application site is shown on the ordnance survey plan attached as Appendix A.  
Coopers Farmhouse, the host property, is a grade II listed dwelling located within the 
village of Britwell Salome. 

1.3 The site lies within the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The application seeks planning permission for the construction of a pond on land to the 

south east of the buildings.

2.2 A copy of the plans accompanying the application are attached as Appendix B, and 
other documentation associated with the application can be viewed on the council’s 
website, www.southoxon.gov.uk 

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Britwell Salome Parish Council -  No objections

County Archaeological Services (SODC) -  No objections

Conservation Officer (South and Vale) -  No objections

Countryside Officer (South and Vale) -  No objections

Drainage - (South&Vale) -  No objections

Neighbour representation – None received

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 The property has been extended/altered previously but none of these applications are 

directly relevant to the current proposal.

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 Development Plan Policies

South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) Policies:

DES1  -  Delivering High Quality Development
DES2  -  Enhancing Local Character

Page 45

Agenda Item 10

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P20/S4830/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 23 February 2021

DES6  -  Residential Amenity
ENV1  -  Landscape and Countryside
ENV3 - Biodiversity
ENV7 – Listed buildings
EP4  -  Flood risk
STRAT1  -  The Overall Strategy

5.2 Neighbourhood Plan Policies:
Not applicable for this site

5.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)

5.4 National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance

5.5 Other Relevant Legislation
Human Rights Act 1998
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the 
processing of the application and the preparation of this report.

Equality Act 2010
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The relevant planning considerations are the following:

 Impact on the character and appearance of the site and the surrounding 
area. 

 The impact on the character and appearance of the existing listed 
building.

 Impact on neighbours. 
 Impact on the special landscape character of the Chilterns Area of 

Outstanding Natural Beauty. 
 Biodiversity
 Impact on drainage. 

6.2 Impact on the character and appearance of the site and the surrounding area. 

 Policy DES1 of the SOLP states that all new development must be of a high 
quality design that reflects the positive features that make up the character of 
the local area and both physically and visually enhances and compliments the 
surroundings.

The proposed development would integrate successfully into the rural character and 
appearance of the site and will not materially alter the landscape character of the 
surroundings or be seen as conspicuous when viewed from outside the confines of the 
site.

6.3 The impact on the character and appearance of the existing listed building.

 Policy ENV7 of the SOLP states that proposals for development, including 
change of use, that involve any alteration of, addition to or partial demolition of a 
listed building or within the curtilage of, or affecting the setting of a listed 

Page 46



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 23 February 2021

building will be expected to conserve, enhance or better reveal those elements 
which contribute to the heritage significance and/or its setting. 

The development has been designed to appear as a natural feature to the site, and the 
Conservation Officer is satisfied that the development would not detract from the 
unspoilt and agricultural character that contributes to the setting of the listed buildings.  

6.4 Impact on neighbours. 

The proposed pond would not be positioned close to any neighbouring occupiers and 
would have no impact on the amenity of local residents.  

6.5 Impact on the special landscape character of the Chilterns Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty. 

 Policy ENV1 of the SOLP 2035 states that the highest level of protection will be 
given to the landscape and scenic beauty of the Chilterns and North Wessex 
Downs Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONBS).   Development in an 
AONB or affecting the setting of an AONB will only be permitted where it 
conserves, and where possible, enhances the character and natural beauty of 
the AONB. 

Officers consider that the scale and design of the pond would be in keeping with the 
site, and that the proposal would conserve the landscape qualities of the Chilterns Area 
of Outstanding Natural Beauty.

6.6 Biodiversity

The development is likely to result in a net gain for biodiversity at the site in accordance 
with ENV3 of the SOLP. 

6.7 Impact on drainage. 

The drainage officer has provided advice to the applicants that they should consider 
aerating the pond to mitigate continuous stagnation which could become a haven for
Mosquitos during the summer months, however, there are no specific drainage issues 
in relation to the pond.   

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The proposal complies with the relevant Development Plan policies and Officers 

consider that the proposed development would be acceptable in terms of its 
relationship to the rural character of the existing site, and the wider AONB. It is also 
acceptable in terms of its impact on neighbouring amenity and on the historic and 
architectural character of the existing listed building.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 Grant Planning Permission subject to the following conditions:

1 : Commencement of development within three years
2 : Development to be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

Author: Hannah Gibbons
Email: Planning@southoxon.gov.uk
Tel: 01235 422600

Page 47

mailto:Planning@southoxon.gov.uk


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 23 February 2021

 

Page 48



Appendix A

Page 49

Agenda Item 10P20/S4830/FUL



Appendix B

P
age 50



 

Page 51

User
Oval

User_1
Line

User_2
Line

User_3
Text Box
A - B 15m

User_4
Text Box
C - D10m

User_5
Line

User_6
Text Box
118m2

User_7
Text Box
A - B 15m

User_8
Polygon

User_9
Line

User_10
Text Box
2m

User_11
Line

User_12
Line

User_13
Text Box
C - D10m

User_14
Polygon

User_15
Text Box
2m

User_16
Typewritten Text
Conservation and wildlife pond Coopers FarmhouseBritwell SalomeWatlingtonOX49 5JZ



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	8 P18/S4100/FUL - Kerak, Chalkhouse Green Road, Kidmore End
	Appendices A-B
	A Appendix
	A1 Appendix
	Location and Site Plan drwgno 3609 200 C
	Sheets and Views
	3609-200-A-SITE LOCATION PLANS


	Visibilty Splays drwgno 20.53-001


	9 P20/S2729/HH - 44 Cedar Crescent, Thame
	Appendices 1-3
	Appendix 1 Location plan
	Appendix 2 a Existing drwgno 1
	Appendix 2 b Floor & Site Plans Proposed drwgno 3e
	Appendix 2 c Elevation Floor & Location Plans Proposed drwgno 2e
	Appendix 3 Previously approved 1
	Appendix 3 Previously approved 2
	Appendix 3 Previously approved 3
	Appexdix 3 Previously approved 4


	10 P20/S4830/FUL - Coopers Farm, Britwell Salome
	Appendices A-B
	1 Location plan
	2 Location Plan drwgno LOC001
	2a Section Plan Pond drwgno SP001





